94481-4

FILEO May 03, 2017 Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington

COURT OF APPEALS NO. 73066-5-I

SUPREME COURT

OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

McCLINCY BROTHERS FLOOR COVERING, INC., and TIM McCLINCY,

Petitioners,

v.

COLLIN CARPENTER and TRISH CARPENTER, husband and wife, and RANDALL V. BROOKS,

Respondents.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Matthew F. Davis Bracepoint Law P.S. 2775 Harbor Ave SW, Ste D Seattle, WA 98126 (206)347-8877 mdavis@bracepointlaw.com

I. INTRODUCTION

The decision of the Court of Appeals in this case contradicts a number of important decisions of this Court. This Court should grant review and correct those errors.

II. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Appellants Tim McClincy and McClincy Brothers Floor Coverings, Inc. seek review of the April 3, 2017 decision of the Court of Appeals.

III. COURT OF APPEALS DECISIONS

This Court should review the entire April 3, 2017 decision of Division One of the Court of Appeals (Appendix A-1 to A-23).

IV. <u>ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW</u>

- 1. Does the Court of Appeals decision conflict with *Eastlake Const. Co., Inc. v. Hess*, 102 Wn.2d 30, 686 P.2d 465 (1984) (McClincy Brothers Breach of Contract Claim)?
- 2. Does the Court of Appeals decision conflict with Kibler v. Frank L. Garrett & Sons, Inc., 73 Wn.2d 523, 439 P.2d 416 (1968); Dodd v. Polack, 63 Wn.2d 828, 389 P.2d 289 (1964); Brear v. Klinker Sand & Gravel Co., 60 Wn.2d 443, 374 P.2d 370 (1962); Washington Fish & Oyster Co. v. G. P. Halferty & Co., 44 Wn.2d 646, 269 P.2d 806 (1954) (McClincy Brothers Unjust Enrichment Claim for Interior Remodeling)?
- 3. Does the Court of Appeals decision conflict with R.D. Merrill Co. v. State, Pollution Control Hearings Bd., 137 Wn.2d 118, 969 P.2d 458 (1999) (Summary Judgment on Exterior and Addition Remodel Unjust Enrichment Claim)?
- 4. Does the Court of Appeals decision conflict with *Waterjet Tech.*, *Inc. v. Flow Int'l Corp.*, 140 Wn.2d 313, 322, 996 P.2d 598 (2000) (Employment Agreement)?
- 5. Does the Court of Appeals decision conflict with *Innis* v. *Tandy*, 141 Wn.2d 517, 7 P.3d 807 (2000) (Fluctuating Work Week)?

V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Tim McClincy is the owner of McClincy Brothers Floor Coverings, Inc. CP 2268 at ¶ 1. When he went to the home of Colin and Trish Carpenter in June or July 2012 to see why a three-month water restoration job at their Medina home that started in May 2011 was still ongoing and losing money, he was not prepared for what he would find. CP 2269-70 at ¶ 5; CP 2251 at ¶ 1.5; Unbeknownst to him, his company had also remodeled the interior of the home, and his project manager, Randall Brooks, had no records for the work. CP 2270 at ¶ 5.

Although the interior remodeling had been started almost a year earlier and finished months before, McClincy had no idea it was happening. CP 2252 at ¶ 1.22. When he confronted his project manager Randall Brooks about it, Brooks offered that he was "behind on his paperwork," but Brooks was never able to provide records for the work. CP 2270 at ¶ 5.

McClincy did not know that in February 2012 Brooks also applied for a City of Medina permit to build an addition to the Carpenter house that named McClincy Brothers as the contractor. He did not know that Medina had issued the permit in May 2012, or that Brooks was managing the whole project in the name of his company.

McClincy pieced together what he could about the interior remodeling and demanded a meeting with Carpenter and Brooks to discuss payment. Three days before the August 2, 2012 meeting, Carpenter submitted a document to the City of Medina to act as his own contractor for the addition and to remove McClincy Brothers.

At the meeting, Carpenter agreed to pay all of McClincy's \$50,000 invoice for interior work except for a contingency line item and paid McClincy's with a check at the meeting. After the August 2012 meeting, continuing the work became more and more difficult.

At the same time, the insurance company paying for the work, Encompass Insurance, became concerned about the delays in the job as well. When contacted by an Encompass investigator, McClincy opined that Encompass might be paying for non-repair work, but Encompass was focused on the living expenses it was paying for the Carpenters while the work dragged on, not whether it was being billed for the remodel.

Brooks resigned from McClincy Brothers shortly after the meeting in August 2012. After resigning, Brooks continued to work on the Carpenter addition project.

On August 16, 2012, Carpenter asked Encompass to stop payment on a \$40,736.07 check to McClincy that it had approved for additional repair work. However, Encompass already had canceled the payment because of its fraud investigation into the living expenses.

In September 2012, McClincy submitted additional invoices for interior work. Carpenter objected, but agreed to pay an additional \$5,000 for non-insurance work. In September, McClincy Brothers also moved the Carpenters' property that had been removed from the Carpenter house during the work from Crown Storage to its own warehouse.

The parties' disputes continued to mount, and on October 15, 2012, McClincy's terminated the contract by notice. McClincy's filed this action on January 23, 2013. CP 1-8. McClincy's sued the Carpenters and Brooks

for breach of contract as well as a host of other claims including conspiracy and "aiding and abetting." *Id*.

A month later, the Carpenters brought a motion for a preliminary injunction over the furniture that McClincy's had moved to its own warehouse. CP 59-67. In its response to the motion, McClincy's argued that it should not have to release the furniture until the storage costs of \$32,531.88 and attorney fees were paid. CP 103-04. The Court granted the motion and ordered McClincy Brothers to hold the furniture in its existing location. CP 128-32.

On March 22, 2013, Encompass sent the Carpenters' attorney a letter stating that it had "determined that your clients fraudulently obtained no less than \$57,233.52 in insurance proceeds from Encompass, to which they're not entitled." RP 7/17/14 at 218; see RP 7/17/14 at 158, 161-162.

In their Answer to the Complaint, the Carpenters admitted that Brooks remodeled the interior of their home, but alleged that they thought it was being done in the name of McClincy Brothers. CP 218-19 at ¶ 3.4. They did not explain the failure to pay for it during the following year.

In two rounds of summary judgment motions, the trial court dismissed many of the claims in the case. On June 6, 2014, the trial court dismissed McClincy Brothers' claims for fraud, conspiracy and aiding and abetting, but denied summary judgment on its unjust enrichment claim for the interior remodeling.

On June 23, 2014, the Court granted McClincy Brothers' Motion for Leave to Amend their Complaint to assert an unjust enrichment claim over the home addition which had been discovered, but she dismissed the claim four days later pursuant to the Carpenters' motion concerning a breach of contract claim. The same day, the trial court and also dismissed McClincy Brothers' Consumer Protection Act claim and McClincy Brothers' claims against Brooks for breaching his employment contract. CP 2197.

What remained of the case was tried to the court for thirteen days between July 15, 2014 and August 8, 2014. When McClincy rested his case at trial, the Carpenters brought motions to dismiss the interior remodeling unjust enrichment claim and the breach of contract claim. RP 7/24/2014 at 17 et seq. The trial court granted both motions.

At the conclusion of the trial, the trial court ruled in favor of the Carpenters and Brooks in all respects. It awarded the Carpenters judgment for \$119,388.58, attorney fees of \$382,829.00 and costs of \$16,418.08 for a total of \$518,635.66, and Brooks judgment of \$101,085.18, attorney fees of \$155,825.00 and costs of \$2,857.04 for a total of \$259,767.22. CP 2660-61.

McClincy Brothers appealed. For the most part, the Carpenters and Brooks continued their strategy from the trial court, which was to savage McClincy and his company while ignoring the evidence and the law. Most of McClincy Brothers' legal arguments went completely unanswered.

Division One affirmed in an unpublished opinion. The decision is particularly noteworthy in a few respects. First, the court appears unfamiliar with the record and the arguments. First, it said that McClincy Brothers did not even respond to one of the appealed summary judgment motions: "McClincy's did not file any response to the motion." Opinion at 9. McClincy Brothers actually filed a six-page substantive response to the

motion, along with deposition excerpts, a Declaration of Tim McClincy, a number of earlier pleadings, and a federal court case totaling 43 pages. CP 1688-1723.

Second, the Court of Appeals said that Judge Linde decided the CR 41(b)(3) motion on the accord and satisfaction defense to the unjust enrichment claim as a matter of fact, not as a matter of law.

Specifically, McClincy's argues that the court erred in determining that the Carpenters had established the affirmative defense of accord and satisfaction as a matter of law. We disagree with McClincy's. The trial court weighed the evidence and found that McClincy's claim failed as a matter of fact.

Opinion at 10-11. The trial court said four separate times over three pages of transcript that it was deciding the motion as a matter of law.

The Court's view is that as a matter of law with respect to the Unjust Enrichment Claim, the claim fails and must be dismissed.

* * * *

The Court finds that the Affirmative Defense of Accord and Satisfaction is made out by these facts, and simply on their face as a matter of law, the plaintiff's lose their claims.

* * * *

The Court finds that that is -- establishes the defense of accord and satisfaction, and as a matter of law, the Unjust Enrichment Claim fails.

* * * *

For those reasons, the Unjust Enrichment is barred as a matter of law

RP 7/24/2014 at 61-64. For good measure, Judge Linde started to decide the contract claim as a matter of law and then changed her mind.

Beyond the matter of law decision, in this case I suppose one could argue that some of the comments I've made about the Breach of Contract Claim more accurately fit when one weighs the evidence. So, I did weigh the evidence in the McClincy claim against the Carpenters for Breach of Contract.

RP 7/24/2014 at 64, 66. The court's entire reasoning for affirming the dismissal consists of "Substantial evidence supports the trial court's findings." Opinion at 11.

With regard to Brooks, the Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's dismissal of McClincy Brothers' unjust enrichment claim on summary judgment four days after the trial court granted a motion to amend the Complaint to include it. The court said that the Carpenters had adequately put McClincy's on notice of the request to dismiss the claim "as they understood it," and that McClincy's failure to present evidence in response to an argument that was never made supported the dismissal. Opinion at 10.

The last issue concerned the calculation of Brooks' overtime award. McClincy argued in his Brief as he did below that the employment agreement created a fluctuating work week, citing *Innis* v. *Tandy*, 141 Wn.2d 517, 7 P.3d 807 (2000). Brooks' arguments consisted of his incorrect assertion that the argument was not made below, a reference to an L&I publication without explanation, and his argument that this Court's decision in *Innis* was distinguishable because "it involved a compensation plan the parties boldly stated 'is not an employment contract." Brooks Brief at 21.

Dissatisfied with those arguments, the Court of Appeals made up its own, citing *Fiore v. PPG Indus., Inc.*, 169 Wn.App.325,344,279 P.3d 972 (2012), which none of the parties ever cited in the whole case, and ruled that *Innis* is effectively limited to its facts because the compensation plan in that case "had a chart explaining the salary formula, with overtime, for a 54-hour workweek." Opinion at 28. As the Court of Appeals explained the

process, few employers could comply with the requirements, and fewer would dare to try.

McClincy also argued that Brooks failed to prove his actual hours but instead claimed over three years of 59.2 hours per week for 52 weeks per year without so much as Christmas day off. McClincy Brief at 36. The Court of Appeals said that "Brooks does not respond to this argument," but said that damages do not have to be precise, and found those to be close enough. Opinion at 29.

VI. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

RAP 13.4(b) sets forth the grounds for accepting review. This petition is based on RAP 13.4(b)(1) ("the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court"). The Court of Appeals decision directly contradicts numerous decisions of this Court.

A. Eastlake Const. Co., Inc. v. Hess, 102 Wn.2d 30, 686 P.2d 465 (1984) (McClincy Brothers Breach of Contract Claim)

First, the court's decision upholding the award of contract damages is contrary to this Court's decision in *Eastlake Const. Co., Inc. v. Hess*, 102 Wn.2d 30, 686 P.2d 465 (1984) and its related decisions in *Mason v. Mortgage Am., Inc.*, 114 Wn.2d 842, 849, 792 P.2d 142 (1990) and *Platts v. Arney*, 50 Wn.2d 42, 46, 309 P.2d 372, 374-75 (1957). All of those cases broadly stand for the proposition that in awarding contract damages, it is improper to use the contract price without accounting for any unpaid a balance.

This is a simple matter of the trial court's findings of fact, the law, and math. In undisputed finding of Fact 1.88, the trial court found that the total amount of McClincy's contract was \$260,021.17. In undisputed Finding of

Fact 1.92, the trial court found that "The total amount paid to McClincy's by Encompass and Carpenters was \$215,305.45." In undisputed Findings of Fact 1.60 and 1.62, the trial court found that the Carpenters paid Edifice Construction \$35,800 "to finish the remaining work on the McClincy's contract." In Finding of Fact 1.17, the trial court found that "The Carpenters paid Construction Dispute Resolution \$5,000," and it exercised its discretion to include that amount in the contract damages.

From a legal perspective, the Carpenters' damages are the contract price less the unpaid balance plus the cost to complete the work. This is the law as established by this Court in a long line of cases. In *Eastlake*, this principle arose in the form of an unpaid balance on the contract. This Court affirmed the trial court's award of "damages for breach of contract, less the amount owing to Eastlake under the contract." *Eastlake*, 102 Wn.2d at 33.

In *Mason*, the issue arose in the context of the purchaser of a mobile home who rescinded a transaction but did receive the benefit of site preparation work, the cost of which had to be deducted from his damages.

In *Platts*, the issue arose in the context of whether an award of damages on a failed real estate transaction should take into account a broker commission that would have been due if the sale had closed. This Court held that it was a necessary part of the benefit of the bargain analysis.

The purpose of awarding damages for breach of contract is neither to penalize the defendant nor merely to return to the plaintiff that which he has expended in reliance on the contract. It is, rather, to place the plaintiff, as nearly as possible, in the position he would be in had the contract been performed. He is entitled to the benefit of his bargain, i. e., whatever net gain he would have made under the contract. *Munson v. McGregor*, 1908, 49 Wash. 276, 94 P. 1085; *Herbert v. Hillman*, 1908, 50 Wash. 83, 96 P. 837; *Herrett v. Wershnig*, 1932, 170 Wash. 417, 16 P.2d 608; *Hardinger v. Till*,

1939, 1 Wash.2d 335, 96 P.2d 262; *Williston on Contracts*, § 1338; *McCormick on Damages*, § 137.

The plaintiff is not, however, entitled to more than he would have received had the contract been performed. It the defendant, by his breach, relieves the plaintiff of duties under the contract which would have required him to spend money, an amount equal to such expenditures must be deducted from his recovery. Gould v. McCormick, 1913, 75 Wash. 61, 134 P. 676, 47 L.R.A., N.S., 765; Robbins v. Seattle Peerless Motor Co., 1928, 148 Wash. 197, 268 P. 594; Rathke v. Roberts, 1949, 33 Wash.2d 858, 207 P.2d 716; Restatement, Contracts, §§ 329, 333, 335; McCormick on Damages, § 143.

Platts v. Arney, 50 Wn.2d 42, 309 P.2d 372 (1957).

Applied to the facts of this case, if the Carpenters had McClincy's finish the contract, they would have been required to pay the full contract amount of \$260,021.17 for that performance instead of the \$215,305.45 that they paid. By hiring Edifice to finish the work, they incurred the additional cost of paying Edifice, and they avoided the cost of paying McClincy. Their damages are the difference between the two.

Mathematically, this is as simple as 2 + 2 = 4, but neither the trial court nor the Court of Appeals would do the math. First, the costs incurred to obtain the benefit of the whole contract must be determined.

Edifice Construction	\$ 35,800.00
Construction Dispute Resolution +	\$ 5,000.00
Equals Cost to Obtain Benefit of Bargain	\$ 40,800.00

Second, the balance owing on the contract must be calculated.

Contract Price		\$260,021.17
Less Payments Made	-	\$215,305.45
Equals Balance Owing		\$ 44,715.72

The benefit of the bargain damages are the amount by which the cost to obtain the benefit of the bargain exceeds the balance owing. But here, that is a negative amount. The Carpenters finished the work for less than they

owed McClincy Brothers on the contract balance. They have no benefit of the bargain damages at all.

The only basis to award the Carpenters the unpaid balance on the contract is the trial court's determination that McClincy caused Encompass not to pay the check that is approved in the amount of \$40,737.07. That amount varies from the \$44,715.72 difference because of a \$5,000 deductible in the Carpenter policy.

McClincy Brothers extensively argued that there was no evidence that McClincy caused Encompass not to reissue the check, but the Court of Appeals refused to address the issue because it said that although McClincy argued that finding "at great length" it "never connects this factual question to any of its arguments." Opinion at 15 n. 21. However, the Court of Appeals then affirmed the trial court's benefit of the bargain award precisely because the trial "court held that 'McClincy's false statements to the insurance company caused the check not to be reissued and damaged the Carpenters." Opinion at 14.

The record contains no evidence of any kind that Encompass refused to reissue the check because of McClincy. It does contain the Carpenters' Settlement Agreement with Encompass in which they gave up that payment in exchange for Encompass dropping its fraud claim. The Settlement Agreement was admitted as Exhibit 163. It states:

Encompass conducted further investigation of the Carpenters' claim and as a result of its August 2012 investigation, Encompass decided to discontinue the payment of benefits under Encompass Claim Z1116175 [water damage claim] and threatened to seek reimbursement of certain benefits paid under Claim Z1116175."

Exhibit 163 at p. 1 (emphasis added).

In the Settlement Agreement, the Carpenters waived any right to any payments by Encompass for three claims in exchange for Encompass waiving its misrepresentation claims against the Carpenters. Exhibit 163 at page 2. As a matter of law, the only reason why Encompass did not pay the \$40,736.06 supplement was that the Carpenters chose to give it up instead of defending an insurance fraud claim.

Nothing about this case is more astonishing, and nothing compels review by this Court more than the fact that the Court of Appeals does not even acknowledge the fraud claim or the settlement. This Court should, at a minimum, grant review and dismiss the Carpenters' contract claim for lack of any damages. As the prevailing party, McClincy Brothers should be awarded attorney fees.

B. Kibler v. Frank L. Garrett & Sons, Inc., 73 Wn.2d 523, 439 P.2d 416 (1968); Dodd v. Polack, 63 Wn.2d 828, 389 P.2d 289 (1964); Brear v. Klinker Sand & Gravel Co., 60 Wn.2d 443, 374 P.2d 370 (1962); Washington Fish & Oyster Co. v. G. P. Halferty & Co., 44 Wn.2d 646, 269 P.2d 806 (1954) (McClincy Brothers Unjust Enrichment Claim for Interior Remodeling).

There is no shortage of cases from this Court discussing what is and what is not an accord and satisfaction. The Court of Appeals did correctly state that: "The elements of accord and satisfaction are that 'the debtor (1) tenders payment (2) on a disputed claim, (3) communicating that the payment is intended as full satisfaction of the disputed claim, and (4) the creditor accepts the payment." Opinion at 12. However, the record in this case contains no evidence of any kind to support the court's conclusion that an accord and satisfaction was reached here.

The purported accord and satisfaction was Carpenter's payment of the bill presented by McClincy for the interior remodeling. An accord and satisfaction requires a communication from the debtor to the creditor that a tendered payment is intended to be payment in full.

The facts are not in dispute in this case, therefore the question is one of law. Did the letter and the check and the cashing of the latter constitute an accord and satisfaction? The claim was unliquidated; therefore, if the check was intended as full payment and that fact was communicated to the plaintiff, his cashing of the check completed the accord.

The important question to determine is whether there was a meeting of the minds. In order for this to have occurred, the defendant must have made his intention clear to the plaintiff.

Kibler v. Frank L. Garrett & Sons, Inc., 73 Wn.2d 523, 526, 439 P.2d 416 (1968). After looking at the record and finding no such communication, the Kibler court concluded: "Since there were no conditions attached to the acceptance of the check in this case, the letter was not an offer of an accord." Id. at 527; see also Brear, 60 Wn.2d at 447; Dodd, 63 Wn.2d at 831 ("However, there was no evidence that the debtors here had informed the creditor that the checks received by him were intended to be considered as full payment; and the rule is equally clear--that when the debtor pays only what in law he is bound to pay and what he admits he owes, such payment by the debtor and its acceptance by the creditor, even though tendered as payment in full of a larger indebtedness, do not operate as an accord and satisfaction of the entire indebtedness because there is no consideration therefor.").

The Court of Appeals does discuss communications about the payment, but they are all communications from McClincy Brothers to Carpenter. Opinion at 13 ("Brooks sent the Carpenters an e-mail on August 1, 2012,

about a meeting Brooks testified that Tim dictated the content of the e-mail. . . . Collin Carpenter testified that Brooks had told him before the meeting that 'McClincy's expected to be paid for all of the work'"). An accord is an offer from the debtor to the creditor.

The trial court dismissed the unjust enrichment claim for interior remodeling because of the purported accord and satisfaction. No accord and satisfaction was reached, and the trial court erred is dismissing the claim on summary judgment. This Court should reverse that decision and remand for a new trial.

C. R.D. Merrill Co. v. State, Pollution Control Hearings Bd., 137 Wn.2d 118, 969 P.2d 458 (1999) (Summary Judgment on Addition Unjust Enrichment Claim).

As noted above, the Court of Appeals said that McClincy Brothers did not file a response to the motion, but it actually filed a six-page response with thirty-seven pages of attachments. CP 1681-1723. The basis of that response was that McClincy's was not even asserting a contract claim for the non-insurance work at all, but instead a claim for unjust enrichment, which was only possible "precisely because no contracts existed for this work and substantial benefits were conferred by McClincy's to the Carpenters." CP 1685.

The trial court granted the motion to amend on June 23, 2014. Carpenter filed his Reply in support of the summary judgment motion the same day. In their reply, the Carpenters completely changed the theory of the motion and argued for the dismissal of the unjust enrichment claim instead. CP 1841.

On June 27, 2014, the trial court heard argument on the summary judgment motion along with several other motions in the case. At the hearing, counsel for McClincy Brothers complained that the trial court had already decided the issue and that he was "blindsided" by the new arguments in the reply brief. RP 6/27/2015 at 30-31. When the trial court got to this motion, it said:

With respect to defendant Carpenter's motion for summary judgment on the plaintiff's claims for damages, for breach of -- and this is the quote: "Alleged, unwritten, unsigned agreement". This has to do with Claim No. Three only in the Second Amended Complaint. I agree with the Carpenters and counsel that a benefit isn't enough. There has to be more. And there has to be more than mere assertions that this really is a retailoring of a fraud claim. That there's no evidence that the Carpenters colluded or were engaged in illicit activities, or false inducements or representations.

RP 6/27/2014 at 47.

In actuality, the third claim in the Second Amended Complaint does not remotely allege fraud. It alleges a claim for unjust enrichment. CP 1896-97 at ¶ 6.2. The claim was based not on misrepresentation, but instead on the undisputed fact that the Carpenters applied for and obtained a City of Medina building permit for the home addition that named McClincy Brothers as his contractor. CP 1035-36. He knowingly benefitted from using McClincy Brothers' name and license as well its personnel and materials in the project without paying for them. CP 1044. It was based on Brooks' admission that he spent many hours as a McClincy Brothers employee assisting Carpenter with that project and that McClincy Brothers was never compensated for that assistance.

Brooks was deeply involved in the addition project, and he claimed that it was in his capacity as "an authorized agent of McClincy's." RP 7/16/2014

at 179. The unjust enrichment claim simply argued that Carpenter would be unjustly enriched if he kept those benefits without paying for them. The trial court accepted that theory when it denied the Carpenters' first summary judgment motion and it accepted the theory again when it granted leave to amend the Complaint a second time.

Courts can change their minds about interlocutory orders, of course, but they cannot grant summary judgment motions on issues that were not raised in a motion and without giving the affected party notice and the chance to respond.

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