FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
8/1/2017 10:06 AM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

No. 94481-4

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

McCLINCY BROTHERS FLOOR COVERINGS, INC., a Washington corporation d/b/a McClincy's,

Petitioner,

v.

COLLIN CARPENTER and TRISH CARPENTER, husband and wife, the Carpenter marital community; and RANDALL V. BROOKS.

Respondents,

and

COLLIN CARPENTER and TRISH CARPENTER, husband and wife, and the Carpenter marital community,

Third Party Plaintiffs,

v.

TIMOTHY McCLINCY, a single man, and CROWN MOVING CO., INC., a Washington corporation,

Third Party Defendants.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

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

III. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

McClincy Brothers' sole basis for its petition for review is that the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with this Court's precedents, and

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW - 10

⁴ The trial court also entered amended conclusions of law (CP 2364-70), and second amended conclusions of law. CP 2374-80.

therefore warrants review under RAP 13.4(b)(1). McClincy Brothers raises three issues against the Carpenters, none of which warrants review.

A. The Court of Appeals correctly affirmed the trial court's damages award, under this Court's decision in *Eastlake*, based on McClincy Brothers' contract breaches.

McClincy Brothers contends the Court of Appeals misapplied the proper measure of contract damages under *Eastlake Construction Co. v. Hess*, 102 Wn.2d 30, 686 P.2d 465 (1984), by refusing to reduce the damages awarded to the Carpenters for money the Carpenters supposedly saved because of McClincy's contract breaches.⁵ McClincy Brothers claims the Carpenters would have had to pay it if McClincy had not refused to perform and had instead finished the water-loss repairs. This money, according to McClincy Brothers, should have been reduced from the damages award because the balance owed under the contract was a cost the Carpenters avoided.

The total price for the contract between the Carpenters and McClincy Brothers was \$260,021.17. CP 2260 (FF 188). The total amount paid to McClincy Brothers by Encompass and the Carpenters prebreach was \$215,305.45. CP 2260 (FF 1.92). The Carpenters paid another contractor \$40,800 to mitigate the damages from McClincy

⁵ Under *Eastlake*, expectation damages include (1) the loss of the value to the injured party because of the breach, (2) any other loss caused by the breach, less (3) any cost or other loss that the injured party has avoided by not having to perform. *Eastlake*, 102 Wn.2d at 46.

Brothers' breaches. CP 2257 (FF 1.62); CP 2376 (CL 1.17).⁶ Thus, according to McClincy Brothers' logic, its breach caused the Carpenters to save almost \$4,000.

This claim has at least two fatal flaws, arising out of factual matters resolved by the trial court and supported by the record. See Petition 11-12. McClincy Brothers breached its contract with the Carpenters twice: first by refusing to finish the water-loss repairs, CP 2254 (FF 1.36, 1.37, 1.38), and second by making fraudulent representations to Encompass that caused it not to reissue the insurance check. CP 2255 (FF 1.40); CP 2261-63 (CL 1.3, 1.6, 1.9, 1.15); CP 2375 (CL 1.9); CP 2376 (CL 1.15); RP (7/17/14) 59, 72-73. As a result, the Carpenters had to pay another contractor \$40,800 to finish the water-loss repairs left unfinished by McClincy Brothers. CP 2263 (CL 1.21). The Carpenters did not avoid the cost owed under the McClincy Brothers' contract by hiring another contractor to complete the work. The Carpenters expected Encompass to pay for the water-loss repairs, and Encompass would have paid the rest of the contract price but for McClincy Brothers' breaches.

⁶ The trial court, in its second amended conclusions of law and order, labeled this finding as a conclusion of law. CP 2376. This finding is correctly reviewed as a finding of fact. *Willener v. Sweeting*, 107 Wn.2d 388, 394, 730 P.2d 45 (1986) ("[A] finding of fact erroneously described as a conclusion of law is reviewed as a finding of fact.").

⁷ Several of the trial court's conclusions of law, such as 1.09, 1.15, and 1.21, are in substance findings of fact and (as previously noted) are correctly reviewed as such.

The trial court awarded the Carpenters \$40,800 in damages, reflecting the money that the Carpenters paid personally to finish the water-loss repairs left unfinished by McClincy Brothers. CP 2263 (CL 1.21, 1.22); CP 2266. Had McClincy Brothers performed its contract duties as promised, the Carpenters would not have had to pay McClincy Brothers for that work because Encompass would have done so. Instead, McClincy Brothers walked off the job, and caused Encompass to stop payment and not to reissue its check to pay for the remaining (unfinished) work. *See* RP (7/28/14) 67-68; CP 2255 (FF 1.39). Nothing in this determination in any way conflicts with *Eastlake*.

B. The Court of Appeals correctly concluded that substantial evidence supported the trial court's findings on accord and satisfaction for McClincy Brothers' unjust-enrichment claim for the interior remodel it completed.

Once again, McClincy makes what is actually a *factual challenge* to the unjust-enrichment claim relating to the interior remodel, dismissed under CR 41(b)(3) after McClincy Brothers rested at trial. RP (7/24/14) 33-34, 61-64; CP 2261 (CL 1.2); CP 2374 (CL 2.1). McClincy Brothers contends substantial evidence does not support that it and the Carpenters reached an accord and satisfaction for all the work performed on the interior remodel. McClincy Brothers effectively asks this Court to parse the evidence differently than the trial court did, which the Court of Appeals correctly declined to do.

The trial court dismissed McClincy Brothers' unjust-enrichment claim for the interior remodel it finished that was unrelated to the waterloss repairs, finding under the facts and as a matter of law that the Carpenters had established the affirmative defense of accord and satisfaction. RP (7/24/14) 61-64; CP 2261 (CL 1.2); CP 2253-54 (FF 1.30-1.33). The trial court weighed the evidence and, based on credibility issues, found that the Carpenters' \$49,951.95 payment tendered to McClincy Brothers on August 2, 2012, was a full payment (i.e., an accord and satisfaction) for the interior-remodel work. RP (7/24/14) 64.8 McClincy Brothers agreed to accept the reduced amount offered by the Carpenters as full payment for the work performed on the interior remodel. CP 2254 (FF 1.32); CP 1894-95; Exs. 18, 105; RP (7/16/14) 174-75, 184-85 (Brooks) (testifying that McClincy dictated the August 2 email to Mr. Carpenter); RP (7/21/14) 122-23 (McClincy) (testifying that he directed Brooks to prepare the August 2 contract); RP (7/17/14) 41 (Collin Carpenter) (testifying that Brooks told him that McClincy Brothers expected to be paid for all of the work that was being done for the interior remodel for which there was no contract); RP (7/23/14) 45 (McClincy) (testifying that he accepted the "\$49,000" payment on August 2 and used it to pay one of his subcontractors).

McClincy Brothers contends that because no evidence reflects a communication from the Carpenters to McClincy Brothers regarding a

⁸ "The elements of an accord and satisfaction are (1) a debtor tenders payment (2) on a disputed claim, (3) communicates that the payment is intended as full satisfaction of the disputed claim, and (4) the creditor accepts the payment." *Douglas Nw., Inc. v. Bill O'Brien & Sons Const., Inc.*, 64 Wn. App. 661, 685-86, 828 P.2d 565 (1992).

payment for the interior remodel, no accord and satisfaction was reached. Petition 13-14. But the trial court's findings of fact establish that the Carpenters tendered—and McClincy Brothers accepted—a check of \$49,951.55 as payment in full for the interior-remodel work. CP 2253-54 (FF 1.30, 1.33). The Court of Appeals' conclusion that the \$49,951.95 check and the August 2, 2012 email were sufficient to establish an accord and satisfaction does not conflict with this Court's precedents.

C. Review is not warranted on the unjust-enrichment claim for the outdoor patio addition dismissed on summary judgment because the Court of Appeals' decision does not conflict with precedent.

The Court of Appeals' decision on the unjust-enrichment claim related to the outdoor patio addition dismissed on summary judgment does not conflict with *R.D. Merrill Co. v. State, Pollution Control Hearings Bd.*, 137 Wn.2d 118, 146-48, 969 P.2d 458 (1999) (holding that an issue not raised in a motion for summary judgment may not be raised in the reply brief and may also not be the basis of a grant of summary judgment).

On the same day, McClincy testified in deposition that the Carpenters owed hundreds of thousands of dollars for work supposedly done by McClincy Brothers on the exterior patio addition under an alleged unsigned, unwritten contract, the Carpenters filed a "no evidence" partial-summary-judgment motion. CP 1297-1300. McClincy Brothers then tried

⁹ McClincy Brothers challenged the trial court's other findings of fact for the accord-and-satisfaction issue, but the Court of Appeals correctly concluded that substantial evidence supports those findings. Slip Op. 12, 12 n.15, 13; CP 2253-54 (challenged FF 1.31-1.33).

to inject into the case, via a second amendment to its complaint, an unjustenrichment claim for the outdoor patio addition. CP 1484-87.

McClincy Brothers contends the Carpenters sought partial summary judgment on the unjust-enrichment claim by opposing it for the first time in their reply supporting their motion. But that motion made clear that the Carpenters sought summary judgment on all claims related to the outdoor patio addition. CP 1299-1300.¹⁰ And the trial court correctly recognized that the unjust-enrichment claim was a "retailoring" of McClincy Brothers' claims for aiding and fraud and conspiracy to defraud that had just been dismissed on summary judgment and that McClincy Brothers still had no evidence to support. See RP (6/27/14) 47-48 (stating at the hearing that the unjust-enrichment claim for the outdoor patio addition was a "retailoring of a fraud claim" and remained unsupported by any evidence); CP 1896 (second amended complaint) ("Carpenter took advantage of McClincy's good will, relationships with subcontractors and suppliers, and general contractor's license, to undertake construction of the extra addition after *inducing* the City of Medina to issue a building permit upon Carpenter's false representation that McClincy's would be acting as his general contractor."). Contrary to McClincy Brothers' assertions, the Carpenters did not raise a new issue in

¹⁰ The Court of Appeals' decision mistakenly stated that "McClincy's did not file any response to the motion." Slip Op. 9. While McClincy Brothers did file a response to the Carpenters' summary-judgment motion, that response did not compel a different result. See CP 1681-86 (response), 1687-23 (supporting exhibits).

its rebuttal materials, and McClincy Brothers had ample opportunity to respond and present evidence supporting its unjust-enrichment claim; it failed to do so. Review is not warranted because no decisional conflict exists.

> IV. **RAP 18.1 REQUEST FOR FEES AND COSTS**

The Court of Appeals awarded the Carpenters reasonable attorneys' fees on both their contract and CPA claims. Slip Op. 32. The Carpenters respectfully request attorneys' fees and costs for preparing and filing their answer to McClincy's petition for review if review is denied. RAP 18.1(j). The first issue raised by McClincy Brothers is a contract issue, and the second and third issues involve claims factually intertwined with the contract.

> V. **CONCLUSION**

This Court should deny McClincy's petition for review and award the Carpenters their reasonable attorneys' fees.